### BABEŞ-BOLYAI UNIVERSITY FACULTY OF SOCIOLOGY AND SOCIAL ASSISTANCE DOCTORAL SCHOOL of SOCIOLOGY

# The effects of the socioeconomic status on the academic achievement

PhD thesis abstract

Scientific coordinator Professor Livia Popescu Ph.D

> Ph.D candidate Levente A. Szőcs

Cluj-Napoca 2013

# Table of contents

KEYWORDS	6
Introduction	7
Chapter 1. School and education through social theories	9
<ul> <li>1.1. PLACING THE THEME IN SOCIOLOGICAL CONTEXT</li> <li>1.2. THEORIES ABOUT THE FUNCTION OF THE SCHOOL IN SOCIETY</li></ul>	9 
Chapter 2. The role of the school in maintaining or improving social inequalities	
<ul> <li>2.1. PEDAGOGICAL COMMUNICATION HAVING A ROLE IN REPRODUCING SOCIAL INEQUALITIES</li></ul>	
Chapter 3. Educational policies in terms of social inequality	61
<ul><li>3.1. EDUCATIONAL POLICIES AIMED AT SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT</li><li>3.2. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT IN THE ROMANIAN EDUCATIONAL SYSTEM</li></ul>	61 63
Chapter 4. International Review of PISA results	80
4.1. COMPARISON OF PISA TEST RESULTS IN THE OECD COUNTRIES 4.2. COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF VIEWS ABOUT THE ROLE OF SCHOOLS IN CONTEMPORARY SOCIETIES	80 82
Chapter 5. Presentation of the research methods	
<ul><li>5.1. RESEARCH OBJECTIVES</li></ul>	
Chapter 6. Analysis of the reliability and validity of the measuring instrument	105
<ul> <li>6.1. Reliability analysis of the dimensions</li> <li>6.2. Analysis of the validity of the dimensions</li> <li>6.3. Factor analysis for the divergent validity of the variables</li> </ul>	107 110 114
Chapter 7. Presentation of independent and dependent variables	125
Chapter 8. Presentation of the dimensions	141
Chapter 9. Predictors of academic achievement	178
Chapter 10. Predictors of success in school	197
Chapter 11. Academic achievement versus success in school (similarities and differences	209
Chapter 12. Predictors of school failure	217
Chapter 13. The pedagogical value added by schools	237
Conclusions of the research	237
Recommendations for the applicability of the results	247
Epistemological (rhetorical) questions	248

#### **KEYWORDS**

- school performance,
- school success,
- *formal school failure,*
- school dropout
- *value brought*,
- pedagogical value added,
- family environment,
- school environment,
- cultural and economic status of the family,
- *individual adaptation.*

#### Introduction

The main objective of this thesis is to *examine and to analyze the social, economical and cultural background related to the academic achievement of secondary school students in Covasna County.* According to my hypothesis, the social inequalities coming from the family environment, form "the bosom of the family" largely influence students' the academic achievements. The stated hypothesis is not based solely on the inferences and conclusions of relevant textbooks in this respect, but also on international reports and comments of specific studies, such as "OECD PISA 2000, 2003, 2006, 2009" (Barbara I., 2008).

The choice of the discussed topic is justified by the fact that in Romania, as in other Central and Eastern European countries, more and more focus is put - not just in the media, but also on professional level – on the transition to an *education based on skills*.

Romania has participated for the first time in PISA studies in 2006, obtaining very poor results. The cause must not be sought in the weak capabilities of students, but in the education system that has a strong theoretical character.

The actuality of the dissertation topic is also supported by the fact that in January 2011 a new education law (Education Law no. 1/2011) came into effect, which emphasizes the acquisition of skills in schools, but unfortunately, even to date - (September 1, 2013) - a concrete and unique vision in this regard has not been yet outlined.

To the motivation for choosing the theme of my dissertation I could also add personal motivation, namely that during my work in Covasna County schools I frequently encounter children who, in social terms, are multiply disadvantaged, and this has such a significant effect on their academic achievement that in their case we often need to talk about children with special educational needs.

#### **Chapter 1. School and education through social theories**

#### 1.1. Placing the theme in sociological context

This paper is primarily intended to study the effects of socioeconomic status on academic achievement. This problem can be addressed from several perspectives, such as the pedagogical, didactic, psychological, economic or the sociological one.

The branch of sociology which deals with the study of education systems, with the role of the school and education in society is the **sociology of education**. From this point of view, we can say that the theme of the dissertation fits in the domain of sociology of education.

As the sociology of education is neither uniform, nor homogeneous, it is risky to formulate a definition of normative value, however, in this dissertation I have presented some definitions, from authors Florian Znaniecki and Mohamed Cherkaoui (cited Hatoş 2006<sub>b</sub>, 21).

Based on these definitions, I concluded that the sociology of education can not be limited to sociology of school, nor to the study of the ways and processes of socialization, this being more than knowledge of the very principle of the social formation as ontic reality and as an object of science.

Analyzing the topics addressed in this paper and we can conclude that they are treated both in terms of educational systems and in terms of families, so the issue of this paper can be located exactly at the point where the issue of family education intersects the issue of education systems.

#### 1.2. Theories about the function of the school in society

For long, researchers have been examining the family background effect on schooling and academic achievement. Based on the gained experiences, several theoretical approaches have been laid down, of which I treated as follows:

#### The basic theory of the dissertation

The starting point in this study was the theory of social stratification laid down by French sociologist, Pierre Bourdieu. According to the author, there is a hidden competition, basically a struggle between different layers of society. In this perpetual competition between the different classes the essential means is the **capital**.

Pierre Bourdieu, in his essay entitled "*Economic capital, cultural capital, social capital*" (Bourdieu 1998, 155-176) shows, in addition to the economic capital, two more types of capital: *the social capital and the cultural capital*. Various forms of capital are mutually convertible within certain limits. According to Bourdieu (2008), through economic capital another type of capital can be acquired by certain, more or less expensive transforming activities.

Another theoretical starting point in my study refers to **equity in school choice**. As Bourdieu asserts, the school develops a selection system that excludes, by its nature, young people from "popular classes" so they often do not even get to enroll in a school that assigns a higher vocational education (Bourdieu 1978).

In this chapter I have also treated the issues of habitus and ethos.

#### **East European theories**

Before the changes occurred in the 1990s, due to the censorship of the time, studies of Eastern Europe could not treat openly the desegregationist or reproductionist issues of the education system. Even if this aspect of the education system was mentioned, it had to be presented as a specific feature of the Western countries.

After the fall of the Soviet block, the theories related to the role and effect of the school and educational system could be treated openly Eastern European countries as well.

#### Teorii reproducționaliste

Denis Lawton (1968, 66-77) argues that there are significant differences between students from different subcultures and their colleagues in terms of motivation for learning, academic achievement and school dropout. He concludes that it would be good if various cultural characteristics of pupils from subcultures would consciously occur in the attitudinal strategies of the teachers who teach them.

Basil Bernstein (1979, 78-94) notes that the communication that exists between teacher and student in the school can be decisive for the reproduction of social inequality.

Klaus Mollenhauer (2003, 129-164) believes that the main cause of social inequalities is not to be found in school, but in the family. In his view, the socialization impact of the family produces different schooling strategies, whose outcome is the precise reproduction of social inequality.

According to JWB Douglas (2003, 147-159), the school regenerates the social inequalities from the moment when schooling begins by applying such selection and filtering strategies that firstly take into account the students' capacities. Douglas demonstrates, however, that there is a clear relationship between the abilities of students and their family, socio-cultural, environment, so the selection and filtering that occurs when the schooling begins becomes in fact social selection.

JS Coleman (1959, 330-351) presents in his work, in terms of the adolescent culture, the interactions between institutional requirements and school groups organized according to certain rules. In his opinion, the school and teachers representing it are not aware of the younger generation's culture and their language codes, so their selection strategies, applied authoritatively, simply ignore them.

#### **Modernist theories**

According to this theoretical approach, the education system plays a significant functional role both in the acquisition of status and of a professional qualification (Treiman, 1970, Parsons 1977 cited Blosfeld-Shavit 1993). The representatives of this theory argue that school selection repositions itself on meritocratic bases, so that *the impact of social origin in determining the educational chances and opportunities is diminishing*.

#### **Neo-Marxist theories**

There is a neo-Marxist approach in explaining the school / educational inequalities mentioned as "a new class" theories (apud. Szelényi and Aschafennburg 1993). According to these, in postindustrial societies the power is in the hands of the elite who own common properties or widespread cultural capital, which monopolizes the most important institutions in

the educational system, these having an important role in the distribution of positions and social privileges.

#### **Rational choice theory**

Boudon perceives the education route as a series of transitions, when at the end of certain stages or school cycles the student and his family must make decisions regarding further education and school choice. Learning and training at a higher level, or completion of the studies are the result of rational choices that arise through the cost-benefit model (secondary factor) defined by wealth and expected result. According to Boudon, as we move towards higher levels of education, the focus is transferred to the secondary effects in explaining educational inequalities.

#### Aspirational positions theory

We find the deepening of the specific model of Boudon's rational choice theory at Goldthorpe (1996).

Golthorpe's conclusion is that the inequalities in educational opportunities can be understood not so much in terms of social class culture of the terms of cultural capital, but based on the rational actions featured in the model proposed by Boudon. Critics of the theory argue, however, that the choice of school is not necessarily a contradiction between rational decisions and following specific social class models (Scott 1996). The fact that people follow the values and norms to which they are emotionally "attached" does not mean by default that they would act unreasonably based on them.

#### 1.3. Social functions of the school

- transmission of culture
- transformation of individual personality
- economic
- workforce training
- *legitimizing the current political power*
- social (social net)
- *supply of services*

Considering these problems, we question whether the school reproduces or transforms the inequalities existing in a society? Under sociological aspect, we call this function of the school **the function of reproduction or transformation of social structure.** 

# Chapter 2. The role of the school in maintaining or improving social inequalities

#### 2.1. Pedagogical communication having a role in reproducing social inequalities

The main framework of the communication between teacher and student is the school, including the school hours. The whole significance of the teacher's way to talk is defined by the situation in which the pedagogical communication takes place, during which the pedagogical activity becomes way to impose and imprint the legitimate culture.

This use of the language does not favor those efforts which aim to measure the informational effectiveness of the communication.

#### 2.2. School desegregation dilemma

This chapter starts from the idea that desegregation can be defined as a social problem, since this problem is involving many children who are injured in their values and interests by this phenomenon.

To understand the phenomenon desegregation, first I analyzed the history and the circumstances in which this concept emerged, both worldwide and in our country.

In the theoretical framework I have conceptualized, defined and indentified the levels and types of segregation, and afterwards I have presented the theories connected to the desegregation dilemma: *segregationist theories, desegregationist theories, and neo-segregationist theories,* followed by my own vision problems related to segregation. This could be positioned somewhere between responsible desegregation of neo-segregationalism.

Finally I have concluded that, although desegregation of schools is a current actuality, unfortunately, most of the actions related to this problem take over certain "European models", without modification or critical standpoint (the theory of forms without substance), without taking into account that even in this country can not talk about a uniform society or uniform inequalities. This leaves schools apparently desegregated, or desegregated "on paper", a fact that will deepen the social differences even more.

#### 2.3. School examinations as a factor of social selection

Acquiring the legitimate culture, i.e. the rapport towards the legitimate culture is not governed solely by the compulsory curriculum, but also embodied in the legal traditions of the exams. The specifics of this written communication mode is that it was written to address a single reader, that being the examining teacher.

In this way, the apparently clear school cult of hierarchies always contributes to the strengthening of the social hierarchies, always taking or adopting aspects of the reproduced social hierarchies (in the dual sense of the word).

Based on these findings, P. Bourdieu concludes that "*the school masks social selection by the appearance of technical selection, legitimating the reproduction of social hierarchy by converting social hierarchies into school hierarchy*" (Bourdieu 2008, 39). In this way, the privileged classes increasingly transfer their selective powers over to the schools.

#### 2.4. The effect of linguistic reflections of social context on academic achievement

Language, as a basis for social contact and communication, has an important social function. As a result, the linguistic reflection of social context illustrates one of the major areas of study in sociology. According to William Labov (1973, 520), "*language can bring a very big benefit, as sensitive indicator of many other social processes.*"

According to Bourdieu (2008, 14-30), although the officially propagated teaching language is not the mother tongue of anyone, not even of the children from privileged classes, is not at all at the same distance from the languages of different social classes . Since the information effect of pedagogical communication always depends on the receptor's language skills, the unequal distribution between different social classes of the capital that can be valuable in terms of school, is in reality one of the most hidden mediations that outlines the relationship between social background and success in school, this fact being highlighted also by studies (apud. Bourdieu, 2008).

In this way, the trick of school mentality finally carries out the society preservation function. This function, however, is not just unrecognized by the specific school mentality, but these are not even willing to recognize it.

#### **Chapter 3. Educational policies in terms of social inequality**

#### 3.1. Educational policies aimed at social development

The educational policies affecting the social development can be defined as follows (HATOS, 2006b) education as a means of reducing structural inequalities, as a means of empowering education for active citizenship, school and labor market integration, the school as a development institution.

Within the educational policies addressing the labor market integration possibilities, we should mention *the quality of curricula*. These curricula should be oriented towards improving labor market success, so knowledge and teaching strategies must be designed so as to be as usable as possible in the local economy.

#### 3.2. Equal opportunities and academic achievement in the Romanian educational system

If we look at education from the perspective of the last 23 years in Romania, probably the most pronounced specificity of this system is the continuous change, and also its inertia and resistance to change. Another specific aspect is the system's inert oscillation between centralization and decentralization.

The educational system in Romania has implemented in the last 20 years several actions aimed at equalizing the opportunities, taking into account the differences due to school environment, minority ethnicity, different types of disabilities, etc.. Among the many programs and measures aimed at equalizing opportunities in educational institutions, we can identify the following major trends that seem to manifest in the form of educational policy:

- Equal opportunities and social inclusion of Roma children
- Measures and programs to combat illiteracy and education of each student,
- Measures and programs on the equalization of opportunities between rural and urban environment
- Measures and programs for the education of students with visual impairments or those at risk.

In conclusion, we can state that the implementation of reforms by implementing educational policies that demonstrate long-term effects takes more than four years, and as such the government cycles and the frequent changes of domestic policy obstruct the positive development of the education system in Romania.

Another observation is that compared to the strategies and programs aimed at equalization of opportunities in education, the number of acts that strategies and programs aimed at maintaining and enhancing academic achievement among students is quite low.

#### **Chapter 4. International Review of PISA results**

#### 4.1. Comparison of PISA test results in the OECD countries

In this chapter, by comparing data from PISA studies conducted in 2000, 2003, 2006 and 2009, I tried to identify certain international trends related to student performance in reading and mathematics.

Looking at the differences between the average scores obtained in reading and mathematics by OECD countries, we can identify a trend of worsening of the results as the difference between 2009 and 2000 is -10/-5 points, between 2009 and 2003 is -4/-6 points, and between 2009 and 2006 is 1/-2 points.

Compared to year 2000, only a few countries have made dramatic changes in 2009, for example Latvia, Poland, Chile and Hungary at reading tests and Italy, Mexico, Portugal, Greece

at math tests. Analyzing the situation of Hungary and Poland, we can confirm that these countries, taking into account the shortcomings of their own education system, reported by PISA studies, have established some educational and social policies aimed at improving these problems.

Based on the performed analyzes (Paried Sample t Test), we concluded that we can not identify statistically significant differences in student performance in the three tests conducted between 2000 and 2009. However, changes between 2003 and 2006 appear to be slightly more significant, especially in the math and reading tests, which can be put onto the account of the changes brought to the tests' level of difficulty, or of the fact that many countries have become OECD members in 2006.

#### 4.2. Comparative analysis of views about the role of schools in contemporary societies

Even if the individual benefits of education are difficult to dispute, the development effect of the investment in education at societal level is a controversial topic. Going on this idea, we can identify several educational policies that even if they have the same goal - to increase individual benefits - however, apply different approaches.

Educational policies that are based on Talcot Parsons's functionalist/structuralist conception claim that the school has to meet the needs of the market. According to this view, a well-developed educational system must first consider the human resources development selection, and fair allocation, and promoting social cohesion by transmitting the core values of a certain society to the new generation.

Another approach to the role of school in society emphasizes the human capital. "Economists of the human capital school, Becker (1997) and Denison (1964) aimed to demonstrate that investment in schools is a productive investment, this producing not only individual but also social benefits" (Hatoş,  $2006_b$ , 2).

In conclusion, the schooling does not have the same efficiency in all countries, so that we can enunciate that *"theories that attribute to human capital the virtue of directly producing wealth belong to an obsolete school of thought."* (Hatoş, 2006<sub>b</sub> p. 2)

The representatives of the credentials school have launched the first criticism of these functionalist utopias (Collins 1979). According to these authors, diplomas do not attest the professional or educational skills of the individual, only suggest, in very general terms, certain qualities of the person.

Another way of perceiving the role of education is communitarian vision. This vision emphasizes the social cohesion and social inclusion, and also stresses the importance of community, the dependency of individual welfare to belonging and to relationships with communities, which manifests itself in associations and networks.

## **Chapter 5. Presentation of the research methods**

#### 5.1. Research objectives

The main object of this paper is to attempt to answer the question: is there or is not there a relationship between students' achievement and their social situation? This paper proposes an evaluation of the influence of social factors on the academic achievement and success in school of students in Covasna County.

Following primary objective, the research objectives can be classified into the following categories:

- *I.* Objectives related to the evaluation / study of the socio-cultural and economic situation of the family:
  - Family environment
  - Economic situation of the family
  - Cultural situation of the family
- *II. Objectives related to the evaluation / study of the educational environment:* 
  - School environment
  - The relationship between school and family
  - The favorable climate of learning
- *III. Objectives related to the evaluation / study of the adaptation profile of individual students:* 
  - Self-esteem
  - Adaptation
  - Optimism
  - School commitment
  - Avoiding problems at school
- *IV. Objectives related to the assessment of performance targets:* 
  - Average of the marks obtained at the studied objects in previous school year
  - Evaluation of obtained marks against the classmates' marks
  - Self-assessment based on the marks
  - Application of tests: mathematics test, PISA and reading test, PISA
  - The results of the national assessment: the marks in mathematics and language

#### 5.2. Hypotheses

The hypothesis related to the primary objective of the present research refers to the influence of the socio-economic environment on academic achievement and success in school in Covasna County.

#### Among the most important assumptions here mention the following:

- In addition to the obvious similarities, we can identify differences between performance and success in school.
- The factors that influence the most the academic achievement and success in school are related to social and economic situation of the family.
- Relying on the three types of capital listed by Bourdieu (1998), I assumed that students who have a higher cultural capital have better results in the tests involved in this research.
- As in the questionnaire was introduced a question about attending certain tutoring activities outside school hours, I assume that students attending these activities achieve better results in PISA tests and national assessments.
- According my hypothesis, the drop-out from school after the eighth grade is a fairly common phenomenon. The categories of students most exposed to this phenomenon are those who are from families with a precarious economic situation, and where the parental education level is very low.
- The academic achievements of students from disadvantaged and dysfunctional families are much lower than among their colleagues. I assume that from this perspective we can not identify a major difference between the schools.

#### 5.3. Description of measuring instruments

The first the measuring instrument is a questionnaire, applied through **supervised self-completion** among students. In the second step of the research I applied **two tests** taken from the PISA-OECD (2006) studies. Although initially not included in the research project, I later decided to introduce the **national assessment results in 2013** the database.

The basis of the first measuring instrument applied in this paper is the questionnaire of Success in school Profile (SPP) laid down and developed by Professors Gray Browen and Jack Richman the School of Social Work, University of North Carolina of Chapel Hill (UNC-CH), adapted and applied in Romania, in Romanian and Hungarian, by the research group led by Professor Maria Roth (2009).

In the questionnaire I have introduced a few questions, which I took from the questionnaire applied in the PISA studies (Student Questionnaire for PISA, 2009).

The questionnaire also includes some questions formulated by myself, these do not add up to a dimension or an index, but, by their nature, they complete the rest of the data.

Through this survey I intended to realize a measurement tool that provides a framework for interpreting and understanding the academic achievement and success in school in the context of the students' backgrounds.

The above described questionnaire was completed with **one test in mathematics and one in reading**, applied in 2009 OECD PISA studies (Take the Test, 2009).

About the applied tests we can say that they actually measure the students' practical applicable skills. The essence of these exercises is the need for a pragmatic thinking from students.

The method of application of the questionnaire was the *supervised self-completion*. We performed the data collection also using the internet, by making online version of the questionnaire. At the applied I did not use the online version due to methodological considerations.

The initial questionnaire and the tests in mathematics and reading were tested in three rural schools and were completed by 70 students in total.

# In conclusion, the questionnaire contains the following dimensions and indexes:

#### Profile of the social environment:

#### The educational climate in the school (dimension)

- 1. Support of the teachers (index)
- 2. School climate (index)
- 3. Family harmony (dimension)
- 4. The support received from parents (dimension)
- 5. Home learning environment (dimension)
- 6. Parental support for school activities (dimension)
- 7. The expectations of parents on school behavior (dimension)
- 8. Cultural activities *(index)*
- 9. Welfare of families (index)
- 10. Educational resources at home (index)
- 11. Possession of "classical" culture in the family (index)

#### Individual adaptation profile

- 12. Self-esteem
- 13. Adaptation
- 14. Optimism
- 15. School commitment

- 16. Avoiding problems at the school
- 17. Self-evaluation based on notes
- 18. Students' option of continuing their studies

The target group of the present study is composed by the eighth-graders in Covasna County.

The number of students in the eight-grade was 1902 in Covasna in the 2012-2013 school year, so I decided to send one questionnaire and a test package for each student. Finally I got back 1598 questionnaires and tests which is a percentage of 84.02% of all the questionnaires.

#### Chapter 6. Analysis of the reliability and validity of the measuring instrument

#### 6.1. Reliability analysis of the dimensions

I have analyzed the reliability of the measuring instrument by calculating Cronbach's Alpha coefficient (Cronbach's Alpha), the standard error of measurement (standard error of measurement) and the percentage of scores which may be due to errors.

Based on Cronbach's Alpha values we found that most variables are within the "good" or "acceptable" area, and found Cronbach Alpha values below the minimum accepted only at three dimensions, which were taken over from the PISA survey.

Comparing Cronbach's Alpha values for the variables that appear in the national study, we found no significant differences between their consistencies.

In conclusion, the reliability of variables from the dimensions is "good" or "acceptable", which, however, suggests that the measuring instrument has produced fairly consistent dimensions.

#### 6.2. Analysis of the validity of the dimensions

I have analyzed the validity of the measuring instrument by calculating the Pearson correlation coefficient for testing the hypothesis which states that the variables from the same dimension must have a higher than 0.30 correlation.

We found that there is a very weak link between the items taken from the PISA study and the PPS survey, the sole exception being the strong correlation between the "school climate" and the " educational climate in school" (r = -0.341, p < .01).

The family climate dimension has the greatest validity. I have found significant correlation also between the variables that compose the *school environment* dimension. The results confirmed the validity of the *"cultural-economic situation of the family"* dimension, because of the variables of the dimension are grouped around theorized construct. If case of the *of individual adaptation profile* dimension, the data only partially confirmed the validity of the dimension.

On the level of the presented dimensions we can identify significant correlations between the variables of the individual profile, the family background and school climate, respectively.

Comparing the correlation coefficients with those obtained in the national sample, I have found that there are no great differences between the results, which once again confirms the validity of the measuring instrument.

Between academic achievement variables I have found very strong correlations, each coefficient having a value above 0.47, and thus confirmed the convergence validity of this dimension.

#### 6.3. Factor analysis for the divergent validity of the variables

In order to study the validity of the construct I have conducted a confirmatory factor analysis, where I focused on whether the items included in different dimension will group around the factors theorized as identical dimensions.

Analyzes confirmed that the thirteen variables of the socio-economic profile saturate four factors that help to explain the total variance of individual adaptation profile in a proportion of 61%. In case of family environment, the five chosen factors help in explaining the total variance in a proportion of 54.5%. At the school climate, the three factors elected contribute to explaining the total variance in 60%. In case of the cultural and economic situation of the family, the five chosen factors help explain the total variance in a proportion of 48.3%. At the individual adaptation profile, the five factors taken into analysis help to explain the total variance in the proportion of 40.62%. In each case, the chosen factors saturate one factor.

In conclusion, only in the case of the welfare dimension of we can identify more serious problems, so I decided to keep these factors built after the original theory.

In case of academic achievement, the factors taken into consideration contributed to explain the total variance in a proportion of 61.7%. Excluding from this analysis the variable "self evaluation on the basis of marks", I found that the explaining of the total variance increases to 70.66%, which led me to exclude this variable from the factor construction.

In case of the success in school, the factors taken into consideration contributed to explain the total variance of academic achievement in a proportion of 49.5%. The explanatory value of the factor "Avoiding trouble at school" was the highest, followed by "self-evaluation based on the marks received in school" and "school commitment".

#### Chapter 7. Presentation of independent and dependent variables

The independent variables of the Covasna County students can be found in the first questions of the questionnaire.

In this chapter I have presented the following independent variables: school name, gender, nationality, age, area of residence, family type, if parents are working abroad and if so, how long has he/she / have they been gone, mother's occupation, father's occupation, mother's studies, father's studies, attending certain tutoring outside school hours and reading habits of students.

The data have conformed that the majority of students in Covasna County come from families which have both parents.

The percentage of cases in which one of the family members went to work abroad is 11.8%, which, based on studies in the field (e.g. Save the Children, 2013), can be considered a relatively low percentage compared to counties where percentage can reach up to 25% or 27%. We can not say the same thing about parental occupation because, surprisingly, 35.34% of the mothers of the surveyed students do not have a job, which means a very high percentage, even for Covasna County.

The statistics show that 31% of students are attending some tutoring outside school hours. This percentage is higher among students from urban areas and lower in case of rural students. The statistical data from this paper uphold that attending certain types of tutoring are in close connection with academic achievement. Results of the study confirm that girls read more than boys, because 73.5% of them use to read other books outside the required readings compared to boys, of which only 54.3% said the same thing.

We conclude the fact that most students "use" library, but the percentage of students who do not borrow books from the library at all is also quite high (26.8%).

#### **Chapter 8. Presentation of the dimensions**

This sub-chapter presents the 13 variables from the social environment profile dimension. These variables are included in the following dimensions: family environment, school climate, and cultural and economic situation of the family. In the second sub-chapter presents the variables of the 5 dimensions of individual adaptation. In the third sub-chapter also the academic achievement factor is presented. I have examined the reliability and univariate distribution of each variable, separately verifying the obliquity and the flatness of these distributions.

#### **Chapter 9. Predictors of academic achievement**

I have composed the academic achievement factor out of the following:

a) mathematics tests marks, PISA;

b) reading tests marks, PISA;

c) 2013 national assessment marks at mathematics;

d) 2013 national assessment marks at language

I have decided to use this factor as correlation and regression analyzes have shown that it has a greater explanatory value than the variables taken separately.

Using regression analysis, I have been able to identify ten variables that influence academic achievement in a significant way. The highest value in explaining academic achievement is that of the brought value factors ( $\beta = 0.250$ ) and the home educational resources ( $\beta = 0.201$ ).

In terms of academic achievement, the variables that tend to measure the cultural activity and "endowment" of the students and their families have no explanatory value, although there is a fairly significant correlation between these factors and academic achievement (r =, 245, r = 101, p < 0.01).

Based on the data, it is shown that the ones who tend to have higher academic achievement students are the students who are optimistic, avoid problems at school, have a positive commitment to the school rules and adapt more easily to the external environment, so the more sociable students.

From the perspective of the family environment, the students' performance depends on the harmony that exists in their families, the support they receive from their parents for school activities and on the parental expectations regarding school behavior, but does not affect academic achievement of the students whether their parents praise and encourage them or not, and whether they talk to them frequently or rarely about their future plans, current events or about what happened in school.

Within the school environment, the academic achievement of students is primarily affected by the school climate, and in lesser extent the educational climate in school, so whether the students feel good at school, are not marginalized and have friends. Incidentally, the support of the teachers in the sense of their interest in the learning process, helping students in learning activities, etc. does not affect the academic achievement.

Based on demographic factors, I have found urban non-Roma girls, who have parents with higher education to have the higher academic achievement and rural Roma boys, whose parents do not have higher education to have the poorer academic achievement. Analysis of variance (ANOVA factorial) confirmed that from between the education and occupation of parents, the mother's education and the father's occupation are the factors that influence the academic achievement the most.

Students in the sample obtained in each category, but also overall poorer results in the PISA tests than at the national evaluation of the same subject. These results support the research hypothesis, that students do not have the capacity to fully implement the skills acquired in school into practice, as these have a mainly theoretical character.

Finally, we can conclude that the predictors of academic achievement can be found primarily in the family's socio-economic and emotional environment, in the child's individual profile and the demographic factors. Realizing several regression analyzes, the factors that influence the most the academic achievement proved to be every time the **brought-in value** and the **educational resources / family welfare**, followed by avoiding problems at school and the **students' optimism**. Among the demographic factors we highlight the influence of **gender**, area of residence, nationality (Roma or not Roma), and the **mother's education**.

From the family climate proved to have explanatory value in each regression model the variables **harmony in the family** and **parental expectations regarding school behavior.** Of the three factors that compose the school environment, only the **school climate** factor has been shown to have explanatory value in each regression model.

The following factors in did not have any explanatory value of the academic achievement in any of the regression models:

- The support received from parents
- The home learning environment
- Cultural activity
- Support of the teachers
- Self-esteem

#### Chapter 10. Predictors of success in school

I have separated the academic achievement factor from the success in school factor because, at the factor analysis of academic achievement, I noticed that the exclusion of the factor "self-evaluation based on the marks received in school" from the academic achievement, resulted in an increase in explanatory value of the total variance of the academic achievement, from 61.7% to 70.66%. This led me to formulate a hypothesis, that there is difference between success in school and academic achievement.

On browsing the literature, I have concluded that in the definition of success in school are involved more factors than in defining academic achievement which is focusing solely on marks. Based on these findings, I have concluded that although there was a strong link between academic achievement and success in school (r = 0.316, p <0.001), with a high probability we can also identify discrepancies between these terms.

Variance and regression analyzes confirmed that success in school has a much closer connection with most variables in the family environment, family environment, socioeconomic status of the family and individual adaptation profile than academic achievement, meaning that the proximal environment the students and their personality characteristics are in closer connection with success in school.

It can be said that the students who tend to have more success in school are the students who are optimistic, have a positive assessment of the school climate, have a higher brought-in value, have more educational resources at home, the parents' expectations on school behavior s are higher, are more consistent and adapt more easily to their environment.

Variables which do not influence success in school are:

- Harmony in the family
- The support received from parents
- School climate
- Cultural activities
- Self-esteem

The variable **support of the teachers** has no explanatory value regarding the success in school factor, as it did not have one in case of the academic achievement. Comparing these results with the results of the research conducted on the national sample (Hărăguş et al., 2009, 35-37), I have concluded that the teachers' support has explanatory value only when the dependent variable is the avoidance of problems at school, which, from a certain a point of view, can be considered an expected result.

With regard to demographic factors, based on the results, we have found being the most successful in school the non-Roma school girls, who have mothers with higher education and do not come from single parent families. Success in school is lower in Roma boys, whose parents have general or secondary education and come from single parent families or have no natural parents.

Interestingly the residence does not influence the students' success in school, even if it affects the academic achievement.

The results have confirmed that the academic achievement of students from single-parent families or without natural parents is low compared to students from other family types.

Comparing the results received with those regarding the academic achievement, we find that in case of academic achievement, the parents' studies induce a more evident differentiation than in case of success in school.

# Chapter 11. Academic achievement versus success in school (similarities and differences

Even though there is a great similarity and overlap between academic achievement and success in school, in this chapter I have tried, in addition to presenting those variables and factors which have in both cases and identifiable and significant influence on the phenomena in question, also to identify those variables and factors which differentiate between academic achievement and success in school.

The definition of success in school is very comprehensive, and does not only focus on achieving good results at school, as several areas are involved in the description of this term. Academic achievement instead describes student success in at learning, and is primarily expressed by the marks received at different disciplines, exams, quizzes, contests, etc..

In general, we can conclude that there are many similarities between academic achievement and success in school because most variables influence (or not) both these factors, but I have managed to identify variables that affect only one of the two concepts as well.

The analysis of variance showed that the mother's level of education and the father's occupation influence the most both academic achievement and success in school, but the mother's level of education and the and father's occupation are better predictors for academic achievement than for success in school.

#### Similarities found between academic achievement and success in school:

The following variables affect significantly the academic achievement and the success in school: the brought-in value, the home educational resources, family welfare, optimism, adaptation, gender, nationality (if self-declared declared Roma or not), mother's education and father's occupation.

The following variables do not influence the academic achievement, or the success in school: support received from parents, the teachers' support, cultural activities, self-esteem and whether one or both parents are working abroad.

#### The differences found between academic achievement and success in school:

• In case of the success in school, the most important factors are the ones related to individual personality traits and to the proximal environment's expectations, when in case

of academic achievement the most influential factors are the ones related to the family's status and economic resources.

- The parents' support in school activities has explanatory value only for the academic achievement factor.
- The possession of "classical" culture in family does have explanatory value for success in school, and has no explanatory value for academic achievement.
- The residential environment of the students has an impact on academic achievement, but does not affect the success in school.
- The academic achievement level is a better predictor of the success in school than vice versa. In other words, students with higher academic achievements will more probably have of success in school, but the reverse of this statement can not be enunciated with the same probability.

I have compared the academic achievement and success in school based on the mother's level of education and father's occupation. Thus I received the following four categories of results:

Students with poor academic achievement and high success in school (273/21, 55%) Students with high academic achievement and high success in school (495/39, 07%) Students with high academic achievement and low success in school (189/14, 92%) Students with poor academic achievement and low success in school (310/24, 47%)

#### **Chapter 12. Predictors of school failure**

If we want to define the success in school then we can not overlook the issue of school failure. Definition of success and failure involve several relative terms, which leads to different interpretations, depending on the cultural and educational traditions of the countries, a fact which also occurs in the evaluation and selection systems. This relativity of concepts requires the identification of different categories within the concept of school failure, and based on the existing theories in the field, the existing definitions should be harmonized, at least at Ministry of Education and Research level, and in the same time, based on these definitions, tools for collecting data on drop- out should be developed. The measuring instrument described in this paper may be a basis for the development of this indicator, of formal of school failure risk.

Based on the categories of school failure, presented in this chapter, I have decided to use the term *formal academic failure*.

In this paper, the group of pupils with formal academic failure is made up of 216 students who have not registered or have not presented (in only 5 cases) at the national assessment, which

represents a percentage of 13.78% of the sample. These students, without having received a mark at the national evaluation, may not enroll in any school for further studies.

In the comparison between all students in the sample and the group of students with formal academic failure, I relied primarily on validation methodology applied by researchers Rose and Bowen. This method is called in the literature inter-groups discriminant validity (known-groups validity).

In conclusion, similar to the five educational risks identified by Rose and Bowen (2005) in the United States, I have identified the following conditions that can cause formal academic failure in Covasna County:

- Ethnicity: Roma
- Parents' labor market status: unemployed
- Education level of parents: 1-8 grades
- Poverty (see students' self assessment or the dimension welfare)

Comparing the average scores of students in the sample (t test), with average scores of the students in the group with formal academic failure, I have found significant differences in 13 of the 19 variables.

I did not find significant differences in the following variables: the family, the support received from parents, the support of parents in school activities, the educational climate in the school, the teachers' support and school commitment.

I found the biggest difference in self-evaluation based on marks variable and the success in school factor, so I have concluded that students with formal academic failure have the biggest differences from their peers regarding school success.

The results confirmed that the cultural activities of the students with formal academic failure are much more reduced, and their families are more probable not to have classic literature, poetry books and artworks in their possession.

In conclusion, the variables that influence the most the formal academic failure are primarily related to the family's economic factors (family welfare and educational resources at home). Based on the results (see optimism, adaptation, self-esteem, etc.), we can assume that the school failure leaves its mark on the individual profile of the students, who thus become less optimistic, less confident and adapt harder to their proximal environment.

In the final conclusion, we can affirm that the presented measuring instrument effectively measures both the academic success and failure. Applying this measuring tool, in addition to being able to evaluate a student's predisposition for academic achievement and success in school, I was also able to identify those criteria that predict the possibility of repeating a grade or dropping out.

#### **Chapter 13. The pedagogical value added by schools**

The pedagogical sciences, similar to the value added used in economics, we can see more and more frequently various attempts by which scientists and various educational institutions will measure are trying to measure the value added by the teachers or by the educational institutions. The premise of these attempts is the observation – also confirmed in this paper - that we can not treat students enrolled in a certain level of education as a homogeneous group, nor those enrolled in different schools. Comparing schools based only on the students' results is a poor way to assess the role of schools' and teachers' effectiveness.

In this chapter I have repeated the statistical analyzes described by authors Balázsi and Zempléni (2004), to see what are those variables that can best describe the socio-economic situation of the family of origin of students in Covasna.

Primarily I identified the optimal model using multivariate regression analysis, choosing between the possible models the ones that have the greatest explanatory value. In the second phase I have conducted an exploratory factor analysis, and so I was able to identify the variables that best describe the brought-in value.

- Mother's occupation
- Father's occupation
- Mother's level of education
- Father's level of education
- Approximately how many books you have at home?
- How many computers / laptops are in your family?
- How many bathrooms do you have in the house?

I believe that assessing the students' and schools' performance in terms of this factor is a new idea in the Romanian educational system.

Based on the brought-in value we can, by a linear regression analysis, define the pedagogical value added as the difference between *the estimate and the actual performance of the schools based on the brought-in value index*. Deviation from the expected performance means that in those schools the students performed better or worse than a "typical" school in the county that has students from the same socio-economic and cultural environment.

Analyzes for each test confirmed that an increase in the brought-in value also causes an increase in the student's performance. The biggest difference exists at the mathematics tests, and lowest at the PISA reading tests.

The above results show that Covasna County's schools manage to balance only partially these disadvantages caused by the socioeconomic entourage, as the value brought-in by students significantly influences the academic achievement.

Analyzing the effect of the brought-in value on academic achievement *I found a quite big difference between the brought-in value of the students from urban and rural areas.* The urban schools transmit to their students a higher added pedagogical value, and the difference due to the locality type on the performance of students in terms of brought-in value is constant.

## **Conclusions of the research**

#### Conclusions regarding the academic achievement

The predictors of academic achievement can be primarily found in the socio-economic and emotional family environment, in the child's individual profile and in the demographic factors. I found that the factors that influence the academic achievement the most are the brought-in value and the educational resources / family welfare, followed by avoiding problems at school and the student's optimism. Based on demographic factors I found that best academic achievement is obtained by non-Roma the urban schoolgirls whose mothers have a higher education and whose fathers are private entrepreneurs or employees with higher education. The lowest performance is obtained by rural Roma boys, whose mothers had completed only 1-8 classes and whose fathers do not have a stable job.

Factors which **do not** influence the academic achievement are: receiving support from the parents, home learning environment, cultural activities, teachers' support and self-esteem.

#### Conclusions related to the success in school

The results confirmed that the **success in school** is in a much closer connection with most variables related to the family environment, the socioeconomic status of the family and individual adaptation profile than academic achievement. Thus the students that tend to have success in school are the students who are optimistic, assess the school climate more positively, have more educational resources at home, whose parents have higher expectations on school behavior, are consistent and are able to adapt more easily to their environment.

The variables which **do not** influence success in school are: the harmony of the family, the support received from parents, school climate, cultural activities, and the self-esteem.

Based on demographic factors, I found that more likely to have success in school are the girls whose mothers have higher education and do not come from single parent families. The success in school is the lowest in case of Roma boys, whose parents have general secondary education and come from single parent families or have no natural parents.

#### Similarities and differences between academic achievement and school success

The analysis confirmed that the majority of variables influence by both these factors, but there are variables that affect only one of the two notions.

Analyses of variance confirmed that the level of education and parental occupation are better predictors for academic achievement than for success in school.

The academic achievement and the success in school are influenced by the following variables: the brought-in value, the home educational resources, family welfare, optimism, adaptation, gender, nationality (if self-declared Roma or other nationality), the mother's education and the father's occupation.

The academic achievement and the success in school are **not** influenced by the following variables: support received from the parents, teachers' support, cultural activities, self-esteem and whether one or both parents are working abroad.

In conclusion, I have identified the following differences between academic achievement and success in school:

- In the case of success in school, the most important factors are related to the variables concerning the individual adaptation and the expectations of the family environment
- In the case of academic achievement, the most influential factors are related to the family's status and economic resources.
- The parents' support in school activities has explanatory value only in the case of academic achievement.
- The possession of "classical" culture in family has explanatory value for success in school, but has no explanatory value for academic achievement.
- The residential environment of the students has an impact on academic achievement, but does not affect the success in school.
- The academic achievement level is a better predictor of the success in school than vice versa. In other words, students with higher academic achievements will more probably have of success in school, but the reverse of this statement can not be enunciated with the same probability.

#### Conclusions regarding the formal academic failure:

In conclusion, similar to the five educational risks identified by Rose and Bowen (2005) in the United States, I have identified the following conditions that can cause formal academic failure in Covasna County: Roma ethnicity, unemployed parents, education level of parents: 1-8 grades and poverty (see students' self assessment or the dimension welfare)

Comparing the average scores of students in the sample (t test), with average scores of the students in the group with formal academic failure, I have found significant differences in 13 of the 19 variables.

I did not find significant differences in the following variables: the family, the support received from parents, the support of parents in school activities, the educational climate in the school, the teacher's support and school commitment.

Based on the results, I have concluded that students with formal academic failure have the biggest differences from their peers regarding the success in school.

In conclusion, the variables that influence the most the formal academic failure are primarily related to the family's economic factors (family welfare and educational resources at home). Based on the results (see optimism, adaptation, self-esteem, etc.), we can assume that the school failure leaves its mark on the individual profile of the students, who thus become less optimistic, less confident, etc..

In the final conclusion, we can affirm that the presented measuring instrument effectively measures both the academic success and failure.

#### Conclusions regarding the brought-in value and pedagogical value added by the schools

The following variables describe best the brought-in value: mother's occupation, father's occupation, mother's level of education, father's level of education, number of books in the family, number of computers / laptops in the family, number of baths.

Analyzes for each test confirmed that an increase in the brought-in value also causes an increase in the student's performance. The biggest difference exists at the mathematics tests, and lowest at the PISA reading tests.

Analyzing the effect of the brought-in value on academic achievement *I found a quite big difference between the brought-in value of the students from urban and rural areas*. The urban schools transmit to their students a higher added pedagogical value, and the difference due to the locality type on the performance of students in terms of brought-in value is constant.

We have found that evaluation methods are primarily supported by the public institutions, and only the independent institutions and the NGOs speak in explicitly about the socio-cultural and economic status' influence of the students' academic achievement.

In the **final conclusion** we can state the fact that the schools in Covasna County alleviate the social inequalities with which the students arrive at school only partially, and the segregationist nature of the educational system is still persisting.

#### **Conclusions regarding non-dimensional variables:**

• The students attending tutoring outside school ours have some better results both at school and at the national assessments.

- Girls read more than boys.
- Most students "use" the library, but the percentage of students who do not borrow at all books from the library is quite high (26.8%).

#### **Other findings:**

- The family environment influences the students' individual adaptation, especially their self-esteem, adaptation and optimism.
- The family environment influences academic achievement and success in school more than the schools' environment, but based on the beta coefficient values, we can also conclude that the school environment dimension has a weak influence on the academic achievement and the success in school.
- Students who have a higher cultural capital obtain better results at the tests used in this research.
- The academic achievement and the success in school of the students who do not have natural parents is low compared their peers from other family types, and in case of the students originating from single-parent families, the success in school is even lower. But results have not confirmed that the number of children in a family would affect the children's academic achievement and success in school, confirmed the findings of the authors Andor şi Liskó.
- The students from the sample obtained both in each category, as well as overall poorer results in the PISA tests, that at the national evaluation of the same material, which supports the hypothesis that the students do not have the capacity to fully implement in practice the skills acquired in school, as these skills still have a mainly theoretical character.

# Recommendations for the applicability of the results

The application of the questionnaire among students can help the work of school counselors, as comparing a student's answers, his/her predisposition for performance, success or failure can be predicted.

Based on performance evaluation practices used in the U.S., I consider that the evaluation of students' and schools' performance of in terms of brought-in value and added pedagogical value and is a new idea in the Romanian education system, which in the future could form the basis of other similar evaluations. This model can identify the most effective schools that can make progress with students who come in with socio-economic disadvantages, which could provide important information and data for educational policy making.

# **Epistemological (rhetorical) questions**

1) The question whether is it right thing when we describe academic achievement through math and language tests.

2) Another problem is the dilemma of global education and the fidelity, i.e. the validity of those standardized measurement tools that try to assess the academic achievement treating all education systems in the world as a homogenous market

3) How can we distinguish between academic achievement and success in school? How do these concepts appear in the literature and how are they interpreted by the authors and readers? Are they synonyms, or not?

4) What is the best way to capture the factors influencing dropout? Where and how can we identify the students who have dropped out of school? Can we rely on the educational institutions' statistics?

# Bibliografie

- Albu M. (2009). Relaţii între optimism, conştiinciozitate, stabilitate emoţională şi performanţă şcolară la adolescenţi, IN. Anuarul institutului de istorie "George Bariţ" din Cluj-Napoca - Series Humanistica - VII – 2009, http://www.historycluj.ro/SU/anuare/2009/Continut/art09Albu.pdf (iunie 2013)
- Andor M.–Liskó I. (1999). *Iskolaválasztás és mobilitás, Iskolakultúra*, Iskolakultúrakönyvek/3, Budapest.
- Andorka R. (1997). Bevezetés a szociológiába. Budapest, Osiris.
- Andruszkiewicz, M. Prenton, P. (2006). *Educația inclusivă, Concepte, politici și practici în activitatea școlară*, București, Centrul Step by Step.
- Baba, C. (2003). Politici publice educaționale. Cluj-Napoca, Ed. Dacia
- Balázsi I. Zempléni A. (2004). A hozottérték-index és a hozzáadott pedagógiai érték számítása a 2003-as kompetenciamérésben. Új Pedagógiai Szemle 2004/2, http://www.oki.hu/oldal.php?tipus=cikk&kod=2004-12-ko-tobbek-hozottertek-index (octombrie 2012).
- Barabási A.L. (2008). Behálozva. Budapest, Helikon Kiadó.
- Bârzea, C. (1977). *Domenii și procedee de evaluare*, în vol. Analiza procesului de învățământ. Componente și perspective, Editura Didactică și Pedagogică, București.
- Bernstein, B. (1979). Studii de sociologie a educației. București, Editura Didactică și Pedagogică.
- Blau, P. M. Duncan, D. (1967). *The American Occupational Structure*. New York: Wiley.
- Blândul, V.C. (2009). Eşecul şcolar premisă a părăsirii timpurii a şcolii, IN. Roth M., Dămean D., Iovu M.-B.(2009). Succesul şcolar la intersecția factorilor sociali, Cluj-Napoca, Presa Universitară Clujeană, 305-316.
- Blosfeld, H. P. Shavit, Y. (Eds.) (1993). *Persistent Inequality: Changing Educational Attainment in Thirteen Countries*. Boulder, Colo: Westwiew Press.
- Boudon, R. (1973). *L'inegalité de chances. La mobilité sociale dans les sociétés industrielles.* Paris, Hachette.
- Bourdieu, P. Passeron, J. C. (1977). *Reproduction in Education, Society and Culture*, Beverly Hills, Sage.
- Bourdieu, P. (1978). A társadalmi egyenlőtlenségek újratermelődése. Budapest, Gondolat.

- Bourdieu, P. (1998). Gazdasági tőke, kulturális tőke, társadalmi tőke. In: Lengyel, Gy. Szántó, Z. (coord.) (2008). Tőkefajták: A társadalmi és kulturális erőforrások szociológiája Budapest. Aula Kiadó. 155-176.
- Bourdieu, P. (2008). A társadalmi egyenlőtlenségek újratermelődése. General Press Kiadó.
- Bowen, G. L. Richman J. M, (2010). The School Success Profile: Assessing the Social Environment and the Individual Adaptation of Middleand High School Students, IN. Studia Universitatis Babeş – Bolyai Sociologia, 1/2010.
- Bowen, G. L. Rose, R. A., Bowen, N. K. (2005). *The reliability and validity of the School Success Profile*. Philadelphia, PA: Xlibris Press.
- Braun, H. I. (2005). Using Student Progress To Evaluate Teachers: A Primer on Value-Added Models, Policy Information Perspective.
- Buck, S. H. (2010). Acting white, the ironic legacy of desegregation, Yale University.
- Cerghit, I. Neacşu, I. Negreţ-Dobridor, I. Pânişoară, I.O.(2001). Prelegeri pedagogice. Iaşi, Ed. Polirom.
- Cherkaoi, M. (1986). Sociologie de l'éducation. Paris, PUF.
- Coleman, J. S. (1959). *Academic achievement and the structure of competition*. Harvard Educational Review No. 29, 330-351.
- Coleman, J.-S.(1966). *Equality of Educational Opportunity*, http://www.scribd.com/doc/89990298/Coleman-Report-Equality-of-Educational-Opportunity-1966 (august 2013).
- Collins, R. (1979). The Credential Society: An Historical Sociology of Education and Stratification. New York, Academic Press.
- Corbett, J. & Norwich, B. (1999) Learners with Special Educational Needs (chapter 6) in Mortimore, P. (ed) (1999) Understanding Pedagogy and its impact on Learning London, Paul Chapman Publishing
- Csanádi, G. Ladányi, J. Gerő, Zs. (2006). *Mobilitási esélyek és a kisegítő iskola*. Budapesta, Ed. UMK.
- Culic, I. (2004). Metode avansate în cercetarea socială. Analiza multivariată de interdependență, Iași, Polirom
- Douglas, J.W.B. (2003). A tanulók képességek szerinti eloszlása. IN. Meleg, Cs. (editor) (2003). Iskola és Társadalom, szöveggyűjtemény. Budapest-Pécs, Dialóg Campus Kiadó, 147-158.
- Drugaş, M. (2010). *Metode de cercetare în psihologia educației,* http://socioumane.ro/blog/mariusdrugas/ (iunie, 2013)

- Drummond, R.J. (1996). *Appraisal procedures for counselors and helping professionals*, Englewood Cliffs: PrenticeHall
- Durkheim, E. (1956). *Education and Sociology*. New York, Free Press.
- Erikson, R. Goldthorpe, J. H. (1992). *The Constant Flux: A Study of Class Mobility in Industrial Societies*. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Ferge, Zs. (1972). A társadalmi struktúra és az iskolarendszer közötti néhány összefüggés. Szociológia, 1972/1, 10–35.
- Giddesn, A.(2008). Szociológia, Budapest, Osiris.
- Hatos, A. (2006<sub>a</sub>). *Sociologia educației*, Iași, Ed. Polirom.
- Hatos, A. (2006<sub>b</sub>). *Politicile educaționale și dezvoltarea socială*. www.ahatos.rdsor.ro/cursuri/politici\_educationale\_hatos\_5.doc.
- Hărăguş, P. T. Roth, M. Mezei, E. (2012). Fidelitatea şi validitatea profilului succesului şcolar în România. (manuscris)
- Hărăguş, P.T. Dămean, D. Roth, M. (2009). Proprietăți psihometrice ale unui nou intsrument de evaluare a performanțelor școlare: Profilul Succesului Școlar. IN. Roth M. – Dămean, D. – Iovu M.-B. (2009). Succesul Școlar la intersecția factorilor sociali, Cluj-Napoca, Presa Universitară Clujeană.
- Imre, A. (2009). *Szülők és iskola*. Kutatás Közben nr. 476, p. 498-503.
- Ischinger, B. coord. (2008.): *Education at a Glance*, OECD indicators. http://books.google.ro/books?id=X5ppmbMnSrgC&pg=PA13&lpg=PA13&dq=%E2%80 %A2%09Barbara+Ischinger:+Education+at+a+Glance,+OECD+indicators,+2008&source =bl&ots=DorCDNoazT&sig=Vp6EebDRXfuMWXuPLQ2UsHcsJa8&hl=ro&sa=X&ei=2 VnYUeGSBJHPsgb\_64D4DA&ved=0CC8Q6AEwAA#v=onepage&q=%E2%80%A2%09 Barbara%20Ischinger%3A%20Education%20at%20a%20Glance%2C%20OECD%20indic ators%2C%202008&f=false (iulie, 2010).
- Jigău, M. Fartuşnic, C. (coord.) (2011). Estimarea dimensiunii fenomenului de abandon şcolar folosind metodologia analizei pe cohortă, http://nou2.ise.ro/wpcontent/uploads/2012/08/Studiu-abandon-cohorte.pdf (august, 2013).
- Jigău, M. Surdu, M. (2002). Participarea la educație a copiilor romi. București MECTS și UNICEF. http://www.ardor.org.ro/content/ro/participarea\_educatie\_copii\_romi.pdf (10 iunie 2013).
- Kirk, R.E. (2008). Statistics: An Introduction. Belmont: Thomson Wadsworth.
- Kozma, T. (2003). Szabadság vagy igazság? In. Meleg Csilla (coord.): Iskola és társadalom II, szöveggyűjtemény, Pécs, Ed. Dialóg Campus.

- Labov, W. (1973). A társadalmi folyamatok tükröződése nyelvi szerkezetekben. In: Szépe Gy. (szerk.) (1973). A nyelvtudomány ma. Budapest, Gondolat Kiadó, Bp. 509-527, http://mnytud.arts.unideb.hu/tananyag/tortszocl/labov\_tarsfoly.pdf, (2012, octombrie).
- Lawton, D. (1968). *Social Class, Language and Education*. London, Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Leadbeat C. (2010): Education innovation in the slums (*Inovarea educației în mahalalele*), http://www.ted.com/talks/charles\_leadbeater\_on\_education.html
- Lipset, S.M. Bendix R. (1959): Social Mobility in Industrial Society, http://books.google.ro/books?id=2YjIi4JfC0YC&printsec=frontcover&hl=ro&source=gbs \_ge\_summary\_r&cad=0#v=onepage&q&f=false (2012 decembrie).
- Locke, A. (1940). *The dilema of Segregation, 406-411*. http://www.negroartist.com/writings/The%20Dilemma%20of%20Segregation.pdf (2011 februarie)
- Lungu, O. (2001). *Ghid introductiv pentru SPSS 10.0*. Iași, Seria psihologie experimentală și aplicată.
- Malhotra, N.K. Hall, J. Shaw, M. Oppenheim, P. (2001): Market Research: An Applied Orientation (2 ed). Australia, Pearson Education
- Mare, R. (1980). *Social Background and School Continuation Decisions*. Journal of the American Statistical Association 75, 295-305.
- Martin, Michael O. Gregory, Kelvin D. Stemler, Steven E. (2000). TIMSS 1999 Technical Report. (ed.). IEA, http://sling11.bc.edu/timss1999i/pdf/T99\_TR.book.pdf (august, 2013).
- Meyer H. D. Benavot A. (2013). PISA, Power and Policy, the emergence of global educational governance, Symposium Books, Oxford Studies in Comparative Education.
- Mezei, E. Dămean, D. Dégi, Cs. (2010). *The school succes Profile-confirmatory factor* analysis on a representative Romanian sample. IN. Roth, M. – Dămean, D. – Dégi, Cs. – Văetiş, L. (2010). The Social Ecology of School Success: Implications for Policy and Practice, Cluj-Napoca, Presa Universitară Clujeană.
- Mihály, I.(2004): *Tanulás "árnyékban", avagy a tanügyi második gazdaság működése*, Új Pedagógiai Szemle 2004 április-május.
- Mollenhauer, K. (2003). Szocializáció és iskolai eredmény. IN. Meleg, Cs. (editor) (2003). Iskola és Társadalom, szöveggyűjtemény. Budapest-Pécs, Dialóg Campus Kiadó, 129-146.
- Nagy, A. (2003). Háttal a jövőnek? Középiskolások olvasás- és művelődésszociológiai vizsgálata. OSZK Gondolat Kiadó, Budapest, 2003.

- Neagu, G. (2012). Impactul programelor naționale menite să stimuleye participarea și performanța școlaară, București, RCR Editorial.
- Neamțu, C. (2003). Devianța școlară, Iași, Editura Polirom
- Negrea, A. Kuitunen, M. Vuolasranta, M. (2007). *Procesul desegregării şcolare*, Bucureşti, Editura Didactică şi Pedagogică.
- Piaget, J. (1965). Psihologia inteligenței, București, Editura Științifică
- PISA 2000 Technical Report PISA-OECD: http://books.google.ro/books?id=IVdo5jhkgx4C&pg=RA1-PA64&lpg=RA1-PA64&dq=Warm+estimates+delta+tau&source=bl&ots=UX6heWvgPw&sig=ZnQniHNN TV3Iugx0THLlqqgTT0I&hl=en&sa=X&ei=PoF2UIioM9DAtAa484CwBw&ved=0CB0Q 6AEwAQ#v=onepage&q=Warm%20estimates%20delta%20tau&f=false, (octombrie, 2012).
- Popa M. (2012): *Aplicații SPSS*, http://www.scribd.com/doc/97271214/Aplicatii-SPSS (iunie, 2013).
- Popescu, L. Rebeleanu, A. Raţ, C. (2009). *Probleme şi Politici Sociale*, http://www.freewebs.com/polsoc/IDD%20Probleme%20si%20Politici%20Sociale%20Cur s%201%202009.pdf (2011, februarie).
- Popescu, V. V. (1991). Succesul și insuccesul școlar precizări terminologice, forme de manifestare, cauze, IN. Revista de pedagogie, nr.12, 1991.
- Pritchett, L. (2001). *Where Has All the Education Gone?*. In. *The World Bank Economic Review*, vol. 15, nr. 3, 367-392. (2012 noiembrie).
- Raymond, J. A. Margaret, W. (2000). PISA 2000 Technical Report, PISA, OECD.
- Renan, É. (1848). *L' instruction publique en France jugée par les Allemands, IN:* Questions contemporaines.
- Richman, J.M. Bowen, G.L. (1997). School Failure: An Ecological-International Developmental Perspective, IN. Fraser, M.W. (ed.): Risk and Resilience in Childhood. An Ecological Perspective, Washington DC, NASW Press.
- Róbert P. (2004). Iskolai teljesítmény és társadalmi háttér nemzetközi összehasonlításban. Társadalmi riport 2004
- Róbert, P. (2001). Egyenlőtlen esélyek az iskolai képzésben. IN. Társadalmi mobilitás a tények és vélemények tükrében. Budapest, Andorka Rudolf Társadalomtudományi Társaság – Századvég Kiadó.
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). *Society and the adolescent self-image*. Princeton, NJ, Princeton University Press.

- Rotariu, T. Iluț, P. (2006). Ancheta sociologică și sondajul de opinie, Iași, Ed. Polirom
- Rotariu, T. Iluţ, P. (coord.) (1996). *Sociologie*. Cluj-Napoca. Ed. Mesagerul.
- Rotariu, T. (1980). *Şcoala şi mobilitatea socială în țările capitaliste dezvoltate*. Bucureşti: Ed. ştiințifică şi enciclopedică.
- Sajtos, L. Mitiev, A. (2007). SPSS Kutatási és adatelemzési kézikönyv. Budapes, Alinea kiadó.
- Sava, F. (2004). *Analiza datelor în cercetarea psihologică*. Metode statistice complementare, Cluj-Napoca, Editura ASCR.
- Sălăvăstru, D. (2004). Psihologia educației, Iași, Editura Polirom
- Scott, J. (1996). *Comment on Goldthorpe*. IN. British Journal of Sociology, 1996/47, 507-512.
- Seligman M. E. P. (2004). *Optimismul se învață. Știința controlului personal*, București, Editura Humanitas
- Stănciulescu, E. (1996). *Teorii sociologice ale educației*. Iași, Polirom.
- Stewart, B. E. (2006). *Value-Added Modeling: The Challenge of Measuring Educational Outcomes,* Carnegie Corporation of New York.
- Stoica. M. (2001). *Pedagogie și psihologie*. Craiova, Editura Gheorghe Alexandru.
- Szabó, M. (2004): Az orosz nevelés története (988-1917). Új Pedagógiai Szemle, p. 125-126.
- Székely, M. Barna, I. (2005). *Túlélőkészlet az SPSS-hez*, Budapest. Typotex Elektronikus Kiadó Kft.
- Szekeres E. (2001). A fiúk és a lányok eltérő olvasási szokásairól. Iskolakultúra 2001/5
- Szelényi Sz. Aschaffenburg K. (1993). Inequalities in Educational Opportunity in Hungary. IN. Blosfeld, H. P. – Shavit, Y. (Eds.) (1993). Persistent Inequality: Changing Educational Attainment in Thirteen Countries. Boulder, Colo: Westwiew Press.
- Szőcs, L. (2010). *A szociokulturális és gazdasági helyzet hatása az iskolai teljesítményre*, Lucrare de grad didactic I. în învățământul preuniversitar.
- Veres V. (1998). Pénz vagy tudás? A kolozsvári román és magyar egyetemisták társadalmi háttere és az értelmiségi utánpótlás sajátosságai. IN. Korunk, 1998/06.
- Vrăsmas, T. Daunt, P. –Muşu, I. (1996). *Integrarea în comunitate a copiilor cu cerințe educative speciale*, București, Editura UNICEF-România.
- Weber, M. (2002). Etica protestantă și spiritul capitalismului, București, Editura ANTET

 Znaniecki, Florian (1975). Obiectul sociologiei educației, IN. Freud Mahler (coord.), Sociologia educației și învățământului. Antologie de texte contemporane de peste hotare. București, Editura Didactică și Pedagogică, 53-62.

#### WEB

- *Chestionarul Profilului Succesului Școlar* (2009). http://www.pro-soft.ro/chestionar *(decembrie 2011)*
- Definition of Value Added: http://www.investopedia.com/terms/v/valueadded.asp. (noiembrie, 2012).
- http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/statistics\_explained/index.php?title=File:Public\_expenditu re\_on\_education, 2009\_%281%29\_%28%25\_of\_GDP%29.png&filetimestamp=20121001 110035 (*16 iunie 2013*).
- http://www.edu.ro (mai, 2013)
- http://www.insse.ro/cms/files/statistici/Statistica\_teritoriala\_2008/rom/Tabel35.htm (octombrie, 2012)
- Legea Educației nr. 1/2011
- Meta-analysis: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Meta-analysis (septembrie 2011)
- OECD (2010). *PISA 2009 Results: Overcoming Social Background Equity in Learning Opportunities and Outcomes (Volume II)*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264091504-en (noiembrie, 2012).
- OECD (2010). *PISA 2009 Results: What Students Know and Can Do –Student Performance in Reading, Mathematics and Science, (Volume I),* http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264091450-en (noiembrie, 2012).
- OECD-PISA Student Questionnaire 2000: http://nces.ed.gov/surveys/pisa/pdf/quest\_pisa\_2000\_student.pdf (octombrie, 2012).
- PISA 2006 Technical Report PISA-OECD,http://www.oecd.org/pisa/pisaproducts/pisa2006/42025182.pdf (*mai*, 2013).
- PISA in Focus (2011): http://www.oecd.org/pisa/49264831.pdf (*iulie*, 2013)
- PISA in Focus nr. 13 (2012). http://www.oecd.org/pisa/49685503.pdf, (16 iunie 2013)
- PISA RELEASED ITEMS –MATHEMATICS: OECD, PISA, 2006 december, *p.3-5.*, *p.8-11*, *p.29-32*, *p.51-53.*, *p.100-102.*, http://www.oecd.org/pisa/38709418.pdf, (*septembrie*, 2011)
- PISA RELEASED ITEMS –READING: OECD, PISA, 2006 december, p.7-15, http://www.oecd.org/pisa/38709396.pdf, (septembrie, 2011)
- Rezultatele Evaluărilor Naționale 2013. https://isj.educv.ro/RezEvNat/ (iulie, 2013)
- *Situația copiilor ai căror părinți sunt plecați la muncă în străinătate*: studiu realizat de asociația Salvați copii Save the children, http://www.salvaticopiii.ro/upload/ (*iulie*, 2013)
- *Student Questionnaire For PISA, (2009).* http://nces.ed.gov/surveys/pisa/pdf/quest\_pisa\_2009\_student.pdf (*decembrie,2011*)
- TAKE THE TEST: Sample Questions from OECD's PISA Assessments, *OECD 2009*, http://browse.oecdbookshop.org/oecd/pdfs/free/9809051e.pdf (*septembrie*, 2011)